

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Aquatic Botany 89 (2008) 260-274

Review

www.elsevier.com/locate/aquabot

Advances and limitations of individual-based models to analyze and predict dynamics of mangrove forests: A review

Uta Berger^{a,*}, Victor H. Rivera-Monroy^b, Thomas W. Doyle^c, Farid Dahdouh-Guebas^{d,e}, Norman C. Duke^f, Martha L. Fontalvo-Herazo^g, Hanno Hildenbrandt^h, Nico Koedam^e, Ulf Mehligⁱ, Cyril Piou^a, Robert R. Twilley^b

^a Institute of Forest Growth and Forest Computer Sciences, TU Dresden, P.O. 1117, 01735 Tharandt, Germany

^b Department of Oceanography and Coastal Sciences, Wetland Biogeochemistry Institute, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA 70803, USA

^cU.S. Geological Survey, National Wetlands Research Center, 700 Cajundome Boulevard., Lafayette, LA 70506, USA

^d Biocomplexity Research Focus (Complexité et Dynamique des Systèmes Tropicaux), Département de Biologie des Organismes,

Université Libre de Bruxelles – ULB, Campus du Solbosch, CP 169, Avenue Franklin D. Roosevelt 50, B-1050 Bruxelles, Belgium

^e Biocomplexity Research Focus, c/o Laboratory of Plant Biology and Nature Management, Mangrove Management Group,

Vrije Universiteit Brussel – VUB, Pleinlaan 2, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium

^f Centre for Marine Studies, Marine Botany Group, c/- Gehrmann Building (60), Level 8, The University of Queensland, Brisbane QLD 4072, Australia ^g Center for Tropical Marine Ecology, Fahrenheitstrasse 6, 28359 Bremen, Germany

^h Theoretical Biology Group, Centre for Ecological and Evolutionary Studies, University of Groningen, P.O. Box 14, 9750 AA Haren, The Netherlands ⁱ Federal University of Pará (UFPA), Campus Bragança, Alameda Leandro Ribeiro s/n, Bragança, PA 68600-000, Brazil

> Received 26 March 2007; received in revised form 7 December 2007; accepted 21 December 2007 Available online 18 January 2008

Abstract

Mangrove ecosystems are considered vulnerable to climate change as coastal development limits the ecosystem services and adaptations important to their survival. Although they appear rather simple in terms of species diversity, their ecology is complex due to interacting geophysical forces of tides, surface runoff, river and groundwater discharge, waves, and constituents of sediment, nutrients and saltwater. These interactions limit developing a comprehensive framework for science-based sustainable management practices. A suite of models have been developed independently by various academic and government institutions worldwide to understand the dynamics of mangrove ecosystems and to provide ecological forecasting capabilities under different management scenarios and natural disturbance regimes. The models have progressed from statistical tables representing growth and yield to more sophisticated models describing various system components and processes. Among these models are three individual-based models (IBMs) (FORMAN, KIWI, and MANGRO). A comparison of models' designs reveal differences in the details of process description, particularly, regarding neighbor competition among trees. Each model has thus its specific range of applications. Whereas FORMAN and KIWI are most suitable to address mangrove forest dynamics of stands, MANGRO focuses on landscape dynamics on larger spatial scale. A comparison of the models and a comparison of the models with empirical knowledge further reveal the general needs for further field and validation studies to advance our ecological understanding and management of mangrove wetlands.

Keywords: Simulation model; Tree growth; Regeneration; Mortality; Hurricane; Sea-level rise; FORMAN; KIWI; MANGRO

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 261 | | |
|----|---|-----|--|--|
| 2. | Driving forces of mangrove structure and dynamics | | | |
| | 2.1. Linkages between environmental conditions and species performance. | 262 | | |
| | 2.2. The role of canopy disturbances and gap size on mangrove dynamics | 264 | | |
| 3. | From specific data to abstractions: modeling approaches for describing mangrove forest dynamics at different spatial scales | 265 | | |

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 35203 38 31303; fax: +49 35203 38 31632. *E-mail address:* berger@forst.tu-dresden.de (U. Berger).

^{0304-3770/\$ –} see front matter \odot 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.aquabot.2007.12.015

| 3.1. | Purposes of the models | 265 | | | | |
|------------|--|-----|--|--|--|--|
| 3.2. | State variables and spatial scales | | | | | |
| 3.3. | Processes overview and scheduling. | 266 | | | | |
| 3.4. | Design concepts | 266 | | | | |
| | 3.4.1. Emergence. | 266 | | | | |
| | 3.4.2. Interaction | 267 | | | | |
| | 3.4.3. Sensing | 267 | | | | |
| | 3.4.4. Stochasticity | 267 | | | | |
| | 3.4.5. Observation | 267 | | | | |
| 3.5. | Initialization | 267 | | | | |
| 3.6. Input | | | | | | |
| 3.7. | Submodels. | 267 | | | | |
| | 3.7.1. Recruitment and establishment. | 267 | | | | |
| | 3.7.2. Tree growth | 267 | | | | |
| | 3.7.3. Mortality | 268 | | | | |
| | 3.7.4. Evaluation | 268 | | | | |
| | 3.7.5. Availability | 268 | | | | |
| Conti | ribution of individual-based modeling to understanding mangrove forest dynamics: advances and challenges | 268 | | | | |
| Reco | mmendations, future research directions, and conclusions | 269 | | | | |
| Ackn | nowledgements | 271 | | | | |
| Refer | rences | 271 | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

1. Introduction

4. 5.

Mangrove forests grow in coastal settings of (sub)tropical climates characterized by freshwater runoff, multiple substrate conditions, prolonged hydroperiod, salinity, anoxic conditions, and accumulation of toxic substances (Lugo, 1980; Ball, 1996). Species composition is strongly influenced by these coastal settings because they are linked to differences in mangrove tree species' capability to become established and grow. According to Thom (1967), mangroves should be viewed as woody vegetation in the intertidal zone that migrates up and down slope from the sea in relation to eustatic natural and human-induced changes in sea level. In their final remarks, Lugo and Snedaker (1974) conclude that "mangrove ecosystems are self-maintaining coastal landscape units that are responsive to long-term geomorphological processes and to continuous interactions with contiguous ecosystems in the regional mosaic". However, when coastal landscapes become fragmented by human transformations of regional and coastal settings, mangroves are less selfmaintaining as coastal processes are modified.

Along with coastal processes of geomorphological settings, natural disturbances (e.g., hurricanes) shape the structural complexity of mangrove forests including maximum stand height and tree morphology (Lugo, 1980, 2000; Doyle et al., 1995; Doyle and Girod, 1997; Duke, 2001). The impact of such events may be responsible for multiple equilibrium states that are observed more often than single equilibrium states in mature stands (Lugo, 1997; Duke, 2001). This might be one reason why succession and species composition along hydroperiod and regulator gradients continue to be two of the major research priorities in mangroves (e.g., Lugo and Snedaker, 1974; Ellison et al., 2000; Sherman et al., 2000; Dahdouh-Guebas and Koedam, 2002; Ellison, 2002; Rivera-Monroy et al., 2004; Berger et al., 2006; Castaneda-Moya et al., 2006; Piou et al., in press).

One approach to document forest dynamics employs remote sensing imagery. There are numerous studies that describe temporal changes in spatial extension of mangrove ecosystems (Calzadilla Pérez et al., 2002; Lucas et al., 2002; Cohen and Lara, 2003; Fromard et al., 2004; Hernández-Cornejo et al., 2005; Dahdouh-Guebas and Koedam, 2008) such as shifts in species composition (Dahdouh-Guebas et al., 2000b, 2004, 2005a,b; Kovacs et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2004), changes in mangrove cover before and after natural hazards (Smith et al., 1994; Krauss et al., 2005; Ramachandran et al., 2005), and dynamics of mangrove forest types (Dahdouh-Guebas and Koedam, 2002; Krauss et al., 2005; Simard et al., 2006). Remote sensing approaches document changes in vegetation cover, however they are limited in providing descriptions of ecological processes causing these changes.

Model simulations have been useful in synthesizing current knowledge about mangrove forest dynamics (Doyle and Girod, 1997; Chen and Twilley, 1998; Doyle et al., 2003; Berger and Hildenbrandt, 2000). The modeling approach is suitable for simultaneously evaluating the effects of environmental changes and disturbances on ecological processes such as tree recruitment, establishment, growth, productivity, and mortality. Such estimates on the sustainability of mangrove resources may contribute to evaluating impacts of mangrove degradation to socio-economic systems (Alongi, 2002; Balmford et al., 2002; Macintosh et al., 2002; Rivera-Monroy et al., 2004; Davis et al., 2005). Consequently, simulation models have been proposed as tools for developing management plans for mangrove protection, rehabilitation and restoration (Twilley, 1997; Doyle et al., 2003; Field, 1998, 1999; Duke et al., 2005; Twilley and Rivera-Monroy, 2005). Such utility in resource management requires that model structure captures the mechanisms that explain forest dynamics, such as (a) controlling role of stressors, (b) plant-plant and plant-soil interactions, as well as (c) impacts of natural and anthropogenic disturbances at different temporal and spatial scales (Ellison, 2002; Clarke, 2004).

The first pioneers in mangrove simulation models were Lugo et al. (1976) who used a process-based model to simulate the effects of upland run-off and tidal flushing on the biomass production of an over-washed mangrove wetland. Burns and Ogden (1985) used a Leslie-Matrix model to predict the development of an Avicennia marina monoculture assuming an exponential population growth. Clarke (1995) used a Lefkovich matrix for predicting the recovery of an Avicennia germinans population following disturbances differing in strength. There are also a few static trophic models estimating matter and energy flow in mangrove ecosystems (e.g. Ray et al., 2000; Vega-Cendejas and Arreguin-Sanchez, 2001; Wolff, 2006). Currently there are only three spatially explicit individualbased simulation models (IBMs) describing Neotropical mangrove forests: FORMAN, KIWI, and MANGRO (Doyle and Girod, 1997; Chen and Twilley, 1998; Doyle et al., 2003; Berger and Hildenbrandt, 2000).

In this paper, we describe these IBMs and discuss their design and specific features. We first explain the essential processes that are assumed to control and regulate mangrove forest dynamics. Based on this assessment, we then compile a list of eight key functional relationships necessary for understanding mangrove forest dynamics. This list will serve as an overview to compare and contrast the purposes and applications of each particular model. Finally, we discuss the application perspectives of IBMs within the field of mangrove ecology, and propose future research directions to continue developing models as research and management tools. The models reviewed focus primarily on the Neotropics, restricting discussion of mangrove forest dynamics to that region.

2. Driving forces of mangrove structure and dynamics

2.1. Linkages between environmental conditions and species performance

According to hierarchy theory (Hölker and Breckling, 2002), processes at a particular organization level can be explained by constraints at higher levels along with mechanisms at lower levels of organization (Pickett et al., 1989). Thus, it is essential to evaluate the climatic and landform characteristics of coastal regions which result in local and often gradual environmental gradients, that represent top-down constrains of mangrove forest development (Fig. 1, Thom, 1984; Woodroffe, 1992; Twilley, 1995; Duke et al., 1998; Twilley et al., 1999b). At the same time, tree performance, growth response, and interactions among trees affect bottom-up patterns of forest development (Smith, 1992).

A conceptual model has been developed that integrates both of these levels of regional environmental constraints and local biotic interactions on the structure and function of mangrove forests (Twilley and Rivera-Monroy, 2005; Fig. 2). According to this model, three types of factors - regulators, resources, and hydroperiod - control mangrove structure and function (Huston, 1994). 'Regulators' are defined as non-resource variables including salinity, sulfide, pH, and redox potential. Resource variables, on the other hand, include nutrients, light or space that are consumed by trees for growth (and thus determine levels of competition). Hydroperiod, the duration, frequency and depth of inundation, is another critical factor controlling mangrove productivity (Wolanski, 1992). According to this model, the interactions among the three factors form a "constraint envelope" which defines the primary productivity of the system. This model links the top-down regional drivers



Temporal Scale

Fig. 1. Temporal and spatial hierarchical organization of key ecosystem components in mangrove forests including leaves, trees, forests and watershed regions. Processes at higher scales include combinations of different species and age classes, with differences in physiology and growth of leaves and trees. These processes affect forest turnover and replacement, depending on landscape scale influences of salinity, elevation, tidal inundation, climate, and geomorphic setting.



Fig. 2. Factorial interaction of three factors controlling productivity of mangrove forests including regulators, resources, and hydroperiod. (A) Production envelope associated with levels of each factor interaction to demonstrate responding levels of net primary productivity. (B) Definition of stress associated with how gradients in each factor control growth of wetland vegetation (from Twilley and Rivera-Monroy, 2005).

with the bottom-up processes through the responses of individual trees to environmental settings.

In order to analyze a particular forest succession trajectory, it is critical to evaluate ecological processes in more detail. For example, mangrove species adapted to capture photosynthetically active radiation more effectively will have a competitive advantage to colonize available, but shaded, space. In Neotropical mangrove tree species, shade tolerance during seedling and sapling stage decreases from *Rhizophora mangle* and *A. germinans* to *Laguncularia racemosa* (Ball, 1980; Roth, 1992). Yet species-specific irradiance-related tolerances currently have not been evaluated in the field neither in gaps nor under closed canopy.

Nutrients are another key resource that can define growth and spatial distribution patterns in mangrove forests (Kristensen et al., 2008). Neotropical mangrove forests can immobilize nitrogen (N) as a result of high N demand by bacteria decomposing leaf litter (Rivera-Monroy et al., 1995; Rivera-Monroy and Twilley, 1996). This suggests that plant growth might be critically N-limited, depending on the magnitudes of N fixation rates. However, essential nutrients are not necessarily uniformly distributed, and soil fertility can switch from conditions of N- to P-limitation across narrow topographic gradients (Feller and McKee, 1999; Feller et al., 2003a,b). In situ fertilization experiments have shown that nutrient enrichment reduces the efficiency of within-stand and within-tree nutrient conservation mechanisms, which influences species-specific growth rate ratios and, therefore, competition among trees (Lovelock and Feller, 2003).

Salt-tolerance varies among mangrove species (Scholander et al., 1962; Ball, 1998, 2002; Krauss et al., 2008) establishing soil pore water salinity as one of the most critical regulators influencing the structure of mangrove forests (Cintrón et al., 1978; Ball, 1980, 2002; Castaneda-Moya et al., 2006). Studies show that neotropical R. mangle and L. racemosa have narrower salt-tolerances than A. germinans because of their limited ability to balance water and salt uptake. This might be a reason why, A. germinans is generally dominant in areas where evaporation exceeds precipitation and soil salinities are >120 g kg⁻¹ (e.g., Cintrón et al., 1978; Castaneda-Moya et al., 2006). Despite numerous reports on species-specific response of propagules to salinity (see e.g., McKee, 1993; Lopez-Hoffman et al., 2007) there is still insufficient knowledge supporting a general mathematical description of this mechanism for propagule establishment up to mature trees along salinity gradients.

Flooded mangrove soils have reducing conditions depending on frequency and duration of standing water and the presence of sulfide. Greenhouse experiments have shown differential tolerance of mangrove seedlings to flooding demonstrating that the interaction between salinity and hydroperiod controls seedling establishment and growth (e.g., Cardona-Olarte et al., 2006). Elevations in mangroves respond to hydroperiod and sediment input, along with feedback effects of mangrove trees that effectively raise the rhizosphere to depths with greater oxygen content. Also, adult trees of *A. germinans* and *R. mangle* are both capable of oxidizing sulfide around the rhizosphere by transporting oxygen through roots (McKee et al., 1988). These mechanisms might explain why adult mangrove plants can grow in soils with high concentrations of sulfide (Matthijs et al., 1999), indicating the large spatial variability of this stressor among and within sites (Rivera-Monroy et al., 2004). Yet, mathematical formulations of how mangroves respond to hydroperiod, particularly mixed with other soil conditions, are poorly understood in mangrove ecology.

Although there are some uncertainties about specific mechanisms linking light, nutrients, salinity, and flooding with tree performance, it is widely recognized that these are essential factors driving mangrove forest dynamics. Thus, simulation models should describe the essential life processes of trees linked to resource, regulator and hydroperiod gradients, and test their relative importance in controlling mangrove forest dynamics (task 1).

2.2. The role of canopy disturbances and gap size on mangrove dynamics

Canopy disturbances at different spatial scales have a strong influence on mangrove forest structure and function, including tree fall, lightning, frost or excessive drought (Lugo, 1980, 2000; Tilman, 1988; Smith, 1992; Smith et al., 1994; Doyle et al., 1995; Fromard et al., 1998; Twilley et al., 1999b; Baldwin et al., 2001; Duke, 2001; Kairo et al., 2002). Specific effects of disturbances depend on their frequency and intensity along resource gradients and hierarchical levels (e.g., hurricanes, deforestation, selective wood cutting) (Gosz, 1992; Roth, 1992; Davis et al., 2005; Ward et al., 2006; Piou et al., 2006; Dahdouh-Guebas et al., 2000a; Glaser, 2003; Walters, 2005; Walters et al., 2008). Although it is desirable to empirically test hypotheses on disturbance regimes, large-scale ($>1 \text{ km}^2$) field experiments are often impracticable due to ethical, temporal or spatial constraints. Based on these limitations, there are two further tasks that mangrove models should perform: test the impact of changes in disturbance regimes on mangrove forest dynamics (task 2), and compile so-called "traffic light lists" which evaluate different management scenarios according to their potential ecological, economic, or social outcome of mangrove sustainability (task 3).

Disturbances result in resource heterogeneity within a gap, and can be seen as "moving windows of opportunity" for seedling establishment. Several studies document gradients of irradiance and light fleck frequency through gaps; mangrove tree establishment corresponds to these gradients and thus indicates the importance of gaps for forest regeneration (Whelan, 2005; Ward et al., 2006). In contrast, there is little information on changes in nutrient availability or sulfide concentration in such gaps, which possibly could affect recolonization. Therefore, comparative field studies addressing this topic are needed in addition to simulation experiments *comparing empirical against simulated recovery patterns to test the plausibility of different hypotheses explaining the role of resource gradients in mangrove gaps (task 4)*.

The seasonal input of propagules is significant to the recovery rate of a forest from a disturbance, and this recruitment depends on (a) the reproductive phenology of

the mature trees, along with the local hydrology (Sherman and Fahey, 2001), and (b) the selective mortality of propagules and seedlings (Lewis, 1982; Cintrón, 1990). Forest recovery also depends on age and size of the individuals that survive disturbances (Shugart, 1984; Botkin, 1993a) such as tree species with re-sprouting capabilities (e.g., A. germinans or L. racemosa, Baldwin et al., 2001). Survivors will influence light regime, microclimate and soil chemistry and may release propagules immediately within the disturbed area. Therefore, pre-disturbance conditions of previous forest structure and recruitment rates are determinants of mangrove development following a disturbance (Doyle and Girod, 1997; Chen and Twilley, 1998; Berger et al., 2006; Ross et al., 2006; Ward et al., 2006; Piou et al., 2006; Bosire et al., 2008). Thus, mangrove simulation models should: synthesize the species-specific and age-specific regeneration potential of individual trees after disturbances and their importance for forest recovery (task 5).

One of the current debates in forest and community ecology is the role of gaps in explaining tree diversity and secondary succession trajectories in temporal, tropical and subtropical forests (Doyle, 1981; Pacala et al., 1993; Denslow et al., 1998; Moorcroft et al., 2001; Felton et al., 2006; Khurana and Singh, 2006; Perry and Enright, 2006). Niche partitioning assumes that competition among individuals for resources determines the diversity of trees regenerating in gaps (Brokaw and Busing, 2000). An opposing view assumes that species composition lacks any specific pattern and is unpredictable, suggesting that no specific successional sequence occurs within gaps following disturbances. Currently, there is not enough information to determine whether niche partitioning or the size of the species pool is more important for the regeneration of canopy gaps in mangrove habitats. Although gap dynamics is recognized as one of the most critical processes regulating mangrove forest structure and productivity, there are only few empirical studies evaluating their impact at different temporal and spatial scales (Sherman et al., 2000; Duke, 2001; Whelan, 2005; Ward et al., 2006). Simulation experiments can focus on dispersal effects and establishment of mangrove trees, and thus contribute to understanding the roles and relative contribution of interspecific competition and "chance" in structuring mangrove forests following gap formation (task 6).

Numerous studies in terrestrial forests have shown that the interplay of gap locations, gap frequency, and the successional stage of forest patches at time of gap creation frequently result in a de-synchronization of the successional states of neighboring forest patches and lead to spatial-temporal mosaics of vegetation structure (i.e., the mosaic cycle theory Mueller-Dombois, 1991; Remmert, 1991). Although spatial patterns in mangrove forests have long been recognized, specific gap dynamic studies are lacking in mangrove ecology (but see Dahdouh-Guebas et al., 2000b). One possible explanation is that physical factors like salinity and nutrient cycling have traditionally been considered as sufficiently effective to account for all of the observed structural patterns. To capture the processes associated with gap dynamics, we propose that models should test the synchronization and de-synchronization effect of canopy disturbances on mosaic cycles of successional forest stages on a landscape level to develop a general understanding of mangrove forest dynamics (task 7).

Now that we have derived these seven key tasks for modeling mangrove, we use these tasks to summarize the specific structure and objectives of published mangrove forest model simulations, as well as their utility in ecological forecasting and natural resources management.

3. From specific data to abstractions: modeling approaches for describing mangrove forest dynamics at different spatial scales

Individual-based models became widely accepted in ecology during the, 1990s and are recognized as suitable tools for simulating the variability of individual plants or animals and its influence on complex life systems (DeAngelis and Gross, 1992; Grimm, 1999; DeAngelis and Mooij, 2005). These models integrate different hierarchical levels of ecological processes, and they can be directly and relatively simply parameterized. They have an intrinsic ability to include both temporal and spatial scales. All these features make them powerful "virtual laboratories", which help testing hypotheses about specific behaviors and traits of individuals, and advance ecological principles for both basic ecological knowledge and the restoration of biological diversity (Urban et al., 1987; Huston et al., 1988; Dunning et al., 1995; Liu and Ashton, 1995; Twilley et al., 1999b). In this section, we describe the three available IBMs focusing on mangrove forest dynamics following the ODD protocol developed to facilitate the comparison and understand model structure and output (ODD = Overview, Design concepts, Detail as described in Grimm et al., 2005, 2006; Grimm and Railsback, 2005).

3.1. Purposes of the models

All three models, FORMAN, KIWI, and MANGRO were developed to understand long-term dynamics of mangrove forests under different environmental and management settings. They are parameterized for the neotropical mangrove species, R. mangle, A. germinans, and L. racemosa (Doyle and Girod, 1997; Chen and Twilley, 1998; Doyle, 1998; Doyle et al., 2003; Berger and Hildenbrandt, 2000), although model applications focus on different (sub)tropical regions. For example, FOR-MAN was applied to various forests in different coastal locations in Florida (Chen and Twilley, 1998) and Colombia (Twilley et al., 1999b). The KIWI model was applied to mangrove forests in North Brazil (e.g., Berger et al., 2006) and Belize (Piou et al., in press; Piou, 2007). Only recently, this model was parameterized for Rhizophora apiculata, a mangrove species occurring in the Indo-West-Pacific region (Fontalvo et al., in preparation). Embedded in the landscape scale vegetation model SELVA, the MANGRO model has the most specific regional focus: the Everglades in south Florida, USA. The specific purposes of each model application also differ ranging from the assessment of management scenarios, forecast of landscape development, and assessment of theoretical ecological issues (see Table 1).

3.2. State variables and spatial scales

All three models describe a tree by its species and stem diameter, which are used to derive other descriptors such as stem height and biomass. The models differ in the spatial description of the trees including stem position, leaf area, and crown dimension (see also Table 1). The FORMAN model is a

Table 1

Differences of the FORMAN, KIWI, and MANGRO models in structure and design

| | FORMAN | KIWI | MANGRO |
|-------------------------------------|---|--|---|
| Differences in purpose(s) | Applied to particular sites in Florida, Louisiana, and Colombia | Applied to theoretical issues, and particular sites in Brazil and Belize | Applied to the Everglades (Florida, USA) |
| Differences in variables | No explicit stem position, leaf area | Stem position, size and shape of FON, no leaf area | Stem position, crown dimension, leaf area |
| Differences in spatial scales | Forest stand (matrix of gaps 500 m^2 each) | Forest stand with variable extension and shape | Landscape as matrix of squared forest stands (default size 1 ha) |
| Differences in resource description | Nutrients/salinity homogeneous within a gap. Light availability per height class | Nutrients/salinity heterogeneous. Light availability implicitly | Salinity/soil quality homogeneous within stand. Light availability per tree |
| Differences in design concepts | Interactions of trees: light competition through sum of leaf areas per height class. Sensing of trees: nutrients/salinity within gap, neighbors via total leaf area above, number of degree days | Interactions of trees: competition for all spatial distributed resources phenol-menologically via FON. Sensing of trees: nutrient/salinity at stem position, neighbors in spatially explicit constellation, no temperature sensing | Interactions of trees: competition for growing space and light explicitly. Sensing of trees: flooding/salinity/stand quality at stand unit, neighbors via distance and azimuth |
| Differences in initialization | Saplings | Saplings | Seedlings |
| Differences in submodels | No explicit saplings dispersal. <i>Tree growth</i> affected by nutrients, light, and temperature defined growth period. <i>Tree mortality</i> due to age and growth suppression, gap creation by a reduction of total leaf area | Explicit saplings dispersal. <i>Tree growth</i> affected by nutrients, neighbor competition (FON overlap). <i>Tree mortality</i> due growth suppression, gap creation spatially explicit | No explicit seedlings dispersal. <i>Tree growth</i> affected by flooding, crown volume, light. <i>Tree mortality</i> : due to growth suppression, gap creation spatially explicit |



Fig. 3. Vertical and horizontal considerations of the mangrove models. Individual subfigures represent (A) the FORMAN model describing vertical competition for light in even sized gaps. Different layers describe abiotic factors like salinity or nutrient availability. They are connected by the gap position. The factors may vary among but not within the gaps. (B) The KIWI model represents individual trees by "fields-of-neighborhood" describing the intensity of competition exerted by the trees against their neighbors. Map layers representing abiotic factors are connected by the stem positions of the trees. (C) The MANGRO model represents each tree in its 3D architecture including spatial position, stem diameter, stem height, crown dimension, and leaf area. All data layers are connected akin to a Geographical Information System.

gap model with a code based on the JABOWA and FORET models (Botkin et al., 1972; Shugart, 1984, see also Fig. 3A). The forest stand is assumed as a composite of many gaps, which do not interact with each other. The gaps described in FORMAN are equal-sized (500 m²) corresponding to the area covered by single large, dominant trees in natural forests. The specific location of a tree within a gap is not considered in FORMAN, and light competition is represented by stratified, averaged leaf layers. Also salinity and nutrient availability are assumed to be homogeneous within a gap. The authors generated other models to simulate these parameters (e.g. NUMAN and HYMAN models), yet those models are not directly linked with the simulation of the FORMAN model (Chen and Twilley, 1999; Twilley et al., 1999a).

The KIWI model characterizes each tree by its stem position within a Cartesian coordinate system. Tree competition is spatially explicit: each tree has a size-dependent circular zone around its stem. The overlap of these circular zones defines the competition among neighbor trees (Fig. 3B). In contrast to 'zone-of-influence' (ZOI) models, KIWI superimposes a scalar field on the ZOI. This field, or FON ('field-of-neighborhood'), decreases from the stem to its boundary and represents declining competition strength with increasing distance from the stem. This approach thus links the ZOI approach with so-called Ecological Field (EF) theory (see Berger and Hildenbrandt, 2000; Berger et al., 2002 for further details). The extension and shape of the forest stand are chosen by the experimenter and may thus correspond directly to natural stand conditions. Typical experiments have used stand sizes from 100 to 10,000 m². The physical environment like topography, inundation height, inundation frequency, salinity and nutrient availability are mapped explicitly by user-supplied layers corresponding to the simulated stand coordinate system (Fig. 3B).

The MANGRO model represents trees in its threedimensional architecture (Fig. 3C). Trees are simulated in square plots of side dimensions of no less than dominant tree height or larger. A stand is a composite of many plots; the default stand size is 1 ha. Each tree and stand is spatially defined by latitude and longitude. MANGRO has the flexibility to run as a stand-alone stand simulator like FORMAN and KIWI with user-specified inputs, or in a hierarchically linked mode with the SELVA model which manages landscape level forcing functions and site conditions, such as mean monthly sea level, soil elevation, daily river flow, hurricane recurrence, predicted wind speed and potential for lightning strike. SELVA can also provide disturbance probabilities from the larger landscape unit, which may be user-specified at the regional, continental, or global scale.

3.3. Processes overview and scheduling

All three models use discrete time steps of one simulation year. Within each year the following processes occur: establishment of seedlings/saplings, growth of existing trees, and tree mortality. The stem diameter of all trees is updated synchronously. From this update, the specific derived parameters such as tree height are also re-calculated.

3.4. Design concepts

3.4.1. Emergence

In all three models, population dynamics (e.g., the temporal variation of basal area, a specific vertical height structure, or species dominance) emerges from the life processes (establishment, growth and mortality) of trees modified by competition and abiotic conditions. Due to the explicit description of trees local constellations, the following characteristic patterns emerge in forests simulated by the KIWI model: clumped to regular spatial distribution of trees, spatial grouping of species, size-class- or fitness-dependent frequency distributions of trees. During MANGRO simulations within the frame of the SELVAmodel, landscape change emerges as a process of collective stand responses and habitat redistribution by migration or retreat.

3.4.2. Interaction

In FORMAN, trees interact through vertical competition for light described by the sums of leaf areas as proxies for the transparencies of height classes. This competition for light is dependent on growth potential of each species to nutrient and salinity conditions explicitly described for the plot. In KIWI, trees compete via their field-of-neighborhood for all spatially distributed resources, which are not specified explicitly. In MANGRO, trees compete for growing space and light within and between canopy layers, horizontally and vertically considering the position and shading of neighboring trees, thereby affecting crown geometry, light attenuation, and reception.

3.4.3. Sensing

Tree growth is influenced by the salinity and nutrient availability in the gap (FORMAN), at stem position (KIWI), or at each tree and stand unit (MANGRO model). In FORMAN, trees are "informed" about the presence of neighboring trees by the total leaf area in the canopy above them. In KIWI, the influence of neighbors on a tree is described by overlapping FONs considering the distance, explicit location and size of all neighbors. In MANGRO, neighbor competition is described in terms of the distance among the trees and the azimuth of every neighbor tree. In FORMAN applications to Florida, trees growth is influenced by the species-specific extension of the annual growth period, defined by an annual accrued number of degree days above some threshold temperature. This feature is not implemented in the KIWI model which was exclusively applied to tropical forests without temperature growth limitation so far.

3.4.4. Stochasticity

During the initialization, trees are randomly distributed over the gaps (FORMAN) or within the stand (KIWI, MANGRO) when eligible and unoccupied space is available. Tree mortality by disturbances is also described as a random function.

3.4.5. Observation

All three models provide a yearly tracking of variables on individuals such as stem diameter and stem height, and on stand level such as total basal area, importance values, or complexity indices.

3.5. Initialization

All three models provide variations in initial data depending on selected scenario or data availability. While smallest trees (assumed to be saplings) have a minimum height of 1.27 m in the FORMAN and KIWI model, MANGRO also describes first year seedlings. The initial number of trees and the species composition can be set corresponding to the requirements of the particular experiment. However, 30 individuals per species per 500 m^2 are used on average in the FORMAN model. For the KIWI model, a typical initial density is 300 individuals per species per $10,000 \text{ m}^2$. The default mode of the MANGRO model allows full stand stocking for every square meter of unoccupied space.

3.6. Input

The models use sapling (FORMAN, KIWI) or seedling (MANGRO) recruitment rates per species defining quasiexternally the annual establishment of new trees. Furthermore, abiotic conditions (e.g., salinity, nutrient availability or stand quality, which are parameters characterizing the inundation regime) are given for each gap (FORMAN), tree location (KIWI) or stand (MANGRO) and may be temporally variable. Discrete events modulating tree mortality (natural hazards, tree cut) or an overall disturbance regime can be scheduled at each time step as required by the experiment.

3.7. Submodels

3.7.1. Recruitment and establishment

In FORMAN and KIWI, seedling growth is not explicitly simulated for two reasons: (a) due to lack of field data, and (b) in order to save computational expense. However, factors affecting seedling growth and mortality - such as grazing or sulfides - are implicitly included in sapling recruitment rates. In FORMAN, the annual number of established saplings added to a gap is arbitrary based on empirical evidence of biotic and abiotic factors controlling recruitment. Following establishment, growth is controlled by available light and soil conditions (nutrients and salinity). In KIWI, the potential location of a sapling is chosen randomly, including a range restriction to simulate establishment beneath a parent tree. Yet, trees can only establish if competition of existing trees is below a given species-specific threshold simulating shade-tolerance of the sapling. In the MANGRO model, stands are stocked with new recruits for every square meter of unoccupied space released by the eventual death of standing trees. In addition, the MANGRO model possesses several seedling regeneration submodels that control species recruitment relative to site elevation, tidal flooding, and proximity and composition of neighboring mangrove stands. In all three submodels, the local recruitment rate of each species can be a function of parent tree density and establishment might be modified by environmental conditions such as salinity, sea level, soil elevation, and flooding potential expressed as gap characteristic or depending on tree location in the flooding gradient.

3.7.2. Tree growth

All three models use the JABOWA-type growth function and a yearly time step. Stem increment is a function of stem

diameter in breast height (dbh), tree height, and the maximum values of dbh and height for a given tree species. This function and its parameterization are defined for optimal growth conditions. To simulate sub-optimal conditions and stress, growth multiplier functions correct the stem increment depending on salinity conditions and available nutrients (total soil P). The FORMAN model also uses correction functions for the light availability and temperature-defined length of the annual growth period. In the KIWI model, a multiplier function considering a neighbor effect is introduced. The intensity of a neighbor's field-of-neighborhood (FON) exerted on the FON of the focal tree is taken as measure for this multiplier. Unlike FORMAN and KIWI, MANGRO contains no nutrient functions, but models site fertility implicitly as a function of maximum potential tree height. Annual stem diameter increase depends on species growth potential for a given tree diameter reduced by derived crown volume, light availability, and light quality. Flooding and salinity further modify stem growth. Crowns grow as a function of crown space and pre-eminence as to which tree fills space first for a given crown height and class. Crown structure is modeled as a three-dimensional process of crown height, width, and depth in relation to sun angle and shading by neighboring trees.

3.7.3. Mortality

All current individual-based mangrove models describe sapling mortality explicitly. The FORMAN and the KIWI model consider the factors that limit seedling establishment (predation, stress, hydroperiod) by sapling recruitment rates. For trees, there is a similar source of mortality in all three models: the probability of tree mortality risk increases after a prolonged period of growth suppression resulting from the compound effect of salinity stress, nutrient limitation, and/or neighborhood competition. In the FORMAN model, mortality is triggered if the annual stem increment is below a specified threshold in two subsequent years. In the KIWI model, a tree dies if the mean stem increment over a user-supplied time range (typically 5 years) is less than half of the average increment under optimal conditions. Such a growth suppression is more frequently met when the environmental conditions constantly deteriorate and when a tree stem diameter approaches the species-specific maximum. Whereas KIWI uses these conditions for an indirect description of tree mortality depending on tree age, an explicit function is used in the FORMAN model. Here, a tree dies with a certain probability which increases with age (as in Botkin, 1993b). However, by considering growth suppression within a time window of several years, a tree has a chance to 'convalesce' when conditions after a shorter stress period ameliorate, that is, salinity decreases, more nutrients become available, or when a neighbor trees die. Also, all three models consider tree death due to stochastic events. In FORMAN and KIWI probabilities (e.g., that a hurricane appears in a particular year and affects a certain percentage of trees) are controlled by the experimenter. For the MANGRO model, the separate HURASIM model reconstructs wind fields from historic storm data for each land unit managed by SELVA and relates specific storm data to each distributed MANGRO

model which describes species-specific tree mortality functions for given wind speeds (Doyle and Girod, 1997). Mortality due to cutting of trees or lightning strikes can be implemented similarly in the three models. This might lead to a decrease of leaf area in the particular height class of a gap (FORMAN model), to the creation of circular gaps according to a gap size distribution (MANGRO model), or to canopy gaps of various sizes and shapes (KIWI model).

3.7.4. Evaluation

The robustness of all three models has been tested by classical sensitivity analyses (Doyle and Girod, 1997; Chen and Twilley, 1998; Piou, 2007). For testing the suitability of the models for simulating particular mangrove stands, model results have been regularly tested against field patterns. Total basal area simulated for the Shark river estuary by the FORMAN model was within $\pm 10\%$ of that observed in the field (Chen and Twilley, 1998). Doyle and Girod (1997) shows similar results regarding forest structure of south Florida mangrove ecosystems. Berger et al. (2004) demonstrates that the KIWI model produces both mixed size classes (with a size class dominance in less disturbed stands), and a u-shaped stem diameter size class distribution of the dead trees corresponding to empirical time series (Monserud and Sterba, 1999) and other modeling studies (Keane et al., 2001). Piou (2007) developed an information criterion based on the Akaike's Information Criterion, the so-called Pattern-Oriented-Information-Criterion (POMIC). This technique was applied to evaluate how well different KIWI parameterizations reproduce zonation patterns of Belizean mangroves by "visual debugging" methods (Piou, 2007). The latter method was also applied to the vertical canopy structure during secondary succession (Berger et al., 2006) to tune the KIWI model for a mangrove forest in North Brazil.

3.7.5. Availability

The KIWI model is available on demand via the corresponding author. The online appendix of this paper gives an overview about model's output.

4. Contribution of individual-based modeling to understanding mangrove forest dynamics: advances and challenges

Given the generality, objectives and applications of the FORMAN, KIWI, and MANGRO models, they have contributed to the synthesis of available quantitative and qualitative knowledge of mangrove forests. All three models describe the essential life processes of trees (establishment, growth, and mortality) depending on resources (light, nutrients), regulators (salinity), and competition (task 1). Model simulations demonstrate how environmental constraints in a given geomorphological setting influence forest dynamics. For example, using FORMAN simulation experiments, Chen and Twilley (1998) showed that resource competition for nutrient availability from marine to mesohaline environments might explain a reduction in *A. germinans* and *L. racemosa* basal areas as observed in the Shark river estuary following impacts by Hurricane Donna in 1960. The same study illustrated that the relative rates of recruitment of *A. germinans*, *L. racemosa*, and *R. mangle* over time was also significant to explain spatial patterns in forest dynamics. Simulation experiments with KIWI showed that a temporal decrease in nutrient availability in combination with species-specific differences in nutrient-uptake efficiency between *L. racemosa* and *A. germinans* (Lovelock and Feller, 2003) were likely to explain the gradual replacement of the pioneer species (*L. racemosa*) in the canopy as observed on northern Brazil after the abandonment of rice cultivation fields (Berger et al., 2006). These findings compare with studies in tropical wet forests where gaps with high nutrient pools significantly affected more the growth rates of high-light demanding species than those of shade-tolerant species.

In addition to demonstrating the role of nutrient concentrations in forest growth, simulation experiments also indicate the significant effects of tree-to-tree competition on forest structure. For example, KIWI simulations support the hypothesis that the slope of the so-called self-thinning-line is not fixed but confined in two directions, i.e., the strength of neighbor competition defines the upper limit whereas morphological constraints such as the stem diameter versus crown diameter relationship determines the lower limit (Berger et al., 2002, 2006). Furthermore it appears that the self-thinning line is linked to a homogenization process in the plot forcing the symmetry of the stem diameter distribution (Berger and Hildenbrandt, 2003). In general, KIWI applications frequently address theoretical issues in vegetation ecology such as asymmetric competition among plants, or the age-related declines in forest production (e.g., Bauer et al., 2004; Berger et al., 2004).

All three mangrove models have been used to test the impact of natural and human-induced disturbances on forest dynamics (task 2). Twilley et al. (1999b) used the FORMAN model to simulate the impact of different restoration regimes on the recovery of mangroves in the Ciénaga Grande de Santa Marta, Colombia (CGSM) in specific site conditions and at decadal time scales. The authors predicted forest recovery in terms of basal area and species composition depending on different scenarios of freshwater inflow, natural recruitment, and planting regimes. Berger et al. (2006) simulated the secondary succession of mangroves after clear-cutting and rice cultivation under brackish water conditions in the Braganca peninsula, North Brazil. Simulations suggested that a combination of disturbance history, nutrient and/or salinity heterogeneity determines species growth potential, but biogenic changes in abiotic conditions, tree competition, and dispersal actually defines the succession trajectory. This study showed that these factors could create multiple outcomes in terms of species composition, even in forests with only a few species under optimal growth conditions. Doyle and Girod (1997) applied hindcast simulations of the MANGRO model linked with a hurricane simulation model, HURASIM, to evaluate the effect of hurricane history on the landscape composition and structure of mangroves in the Florida Everglades. They identified the occurrence of major storms every 30 years as the most important factor controlling mangrove structure and dynamics in south Florida. Based on forecast simulations with more intense storm events expected under projected climate change, the authors predicted a further alteration in the landscape structure and composition during the next century.

In principle, all revised IBMs provide a framework for evaluating management scenarios according to their potential ecological, economic, or social outcome of mangrove sustainability (task 3). MANGRO simulations of future sea-level rise from climate change suggest that tidal inundation increases across the Everglades landscape and enhances mangrove encroachment and expansion onto the low-lying Everglades slope (Doyle et al., 2003). The MANGRO model also considers management options such as hydrologic restoration of freshwater flow in the Everglades which may help to stall the rate of mangrove expansion into former freshwater habitats under rising sea levels and future climate change. Twilley et al. (1999b) used FORMAN to evaluate potential management scenarios regarding the hydrological regime, which was proposed for the rehabilitation of CGSM. The authors compile a so-called "traffic light list" signifying which scenario is best ("green light"), intermediate ("yellow light"), or worst ("red light") in terms of basal area recovery and species composition.

A comparison of empirical versus simulated recovery patterns is a suitable strategy to test the plausibility of different hypotheses regarding resource gradients in gaps (task 4). This procedure refers to the strategy of "Pattern-Oriented-Modeling" (Grimm and Railsback, 2005) and is a general advantage of spatially explicit, individual-based models. Berger et al. (2006) use a comparison of temporal changes in canopy structure (height differentiation and species composition) to explain recovery phenomena of mangrove forests. Similarly, Doyle and Girod (1997) compared forest structure of field plots with simulated results to gauge the contribution and role of hurricanes in controlling forest dynamics of south Florida mangrove ecosystems. Finally, Piou (2007) tested the importance of intertidal gradients for the establishment and growth processes of Caribbean mangroves in an attempt to reproduce the recovery of Belizean sites destroyed by hurricane Hattie in 1961.

5. Recommendations, future research directions, and conclusions

Despite the successful model applications described above, there still exist several model limitations and underutilized model resources that restrict the use of these tools to advance our understanding of mangrove forest dynamics. For example, all three mangrove forest simulators have been used to evaluate the relative role of niche partitioning and "chance" in structuring mangrove forests (task 6), but to a different extent according to their formulation of the recruitment process. Comparing the simulation results of the three different mangrove IBMs under similar scenario and disturbance regimes could evaluate the relative importance of recruitment and specific sapling dispersal mechanisms on regulating forest trajectories over time which have been suggested by empirical studies (e.g. Thampanya et al., 2002; Thampanya, 2006). Nevertheless, specific factors determining seedling and sapling survival rates such as predation are not explicitly formulated in model simulations. There is only one IBM, the so-called IBU model, which simulates local movement of individual *Ucides cordatus* crabs (Piou et al., 2007). This model has been used to analyze recovery patterns of a crab population after fishing in North Brazil. A link of such a model to forest dynamics through microhabitat conditions, leaf litter consumption and seed predation is still an open research question (cf. Cannicci et al., 2008).

There is no consensus about the detail of physiological mechanisms and competition processes needed for more accurate modeling of forest dynamics (Busing and Mailly, 2004). Regarding mangrove forests, this question is particularly critical since physiological field studies in mature forests are lacking in comparison to mesocosms and greenhouse studies (e.g., Cardona-Olarte et al., 2006). Further studies comparing simulations of FORMAN, KIWI, and MANGRO models to determine whether more detailed formulations of the spatial distribution of resources like light and tree dimensions such as crown volume and orientation can significantly improve model accuracy as suggested by Reynolds and Ford (2005).

Field studies on vegetation patch dynamics show that gap size influences forest dynamics (e.g., Pickett and White, 1985). For example, pioneer species are often excluded when gap size falls below a certain level; these small gaps might restrict regrowth and promote closure from the surrounding canopy (Baldwin et al., 2001). KIWI and MANGRO address this aspect because gaps of different sizes and shapes appear "naturally" when trees die. In this case, the created gap conditions control dispersal, establishment, survivorship, and growth of new recruits. However, to enhance our understanding of the relative importance of resource gradient partitioning and recruitment limitation in maintaining tree species richness and spatial distribution, further simulation experiments are needed. Such experiments should be linked to integrative (across scales) field experiments on the relationship among gap and patch geometry and on species distribution in mangrove forests. Moreover, there is a need for both comparative and multifactor experiments designed to examine how soil nutrient concentrations and hydroperiod interact with stressors to limit growth of both seedlings and adult trees (e.g., Thampanya et al., 2002; Cardona-Olarte et al., 2006). In this context, mechanistic submodels could be suitable to support the analysis of field experiments which are often hard to interpret with increasing complexity.

FORMAN and MANGRO have focused on site-specific predictions of forest productivity, and although SELVA–MANGRO (Doyle and Girod, 1997; Doyle et al., 2003) and FORMAN (Twilley et al., 1999b) have also simulated regional productivities and responses to global change, model results are limited due to the lack of a description of belowground processes (Twilley et al., 1992). This limitation includes multi-layer representation of soil water and nutrient availability as well as processes like biomass allocation to roots and root distribution within the soil, which have been neglected in

mangrove research (but see Komiyama et al., 1987, 2008). Currently, there is only one published mangrove nutrient mechanistic model that simulates profiles of soil carbon, N and P and organic matter (NUMAN; Chen and Twilley, 1998). We also describe the need to produce a synthesis of the speciesspecific and age-specific regeneration potential of individual trees after disturbances and their importance for system recovery as grasped by the simulation models (task 5). The MANGRO model partly focuses on this topic by including an adaptive function for effecting tree growth rate and performance based on disturbance (Doyle and Girod, 1997). Nevertheless, investigations regarding the importance of resprouting on the recovery of mangrove systems after mechanical disturbances cannot be carried out by the available IBMs. Current models do not provide the needed flexibility in representation of tree architecture (e.g., sprouting branches and deviations from circular crown shapes), which could be an important process for analyzing system recovery after mechanic disturbances, like hurricanes. Until now, the "virtual trees" do not show "adaptive behavior". Trees grow faster or slower based on environmental conditions and their local neighborhood, but they are unable to respond in terms of reproduction time, reproduction type, or specific tree morphology (e.g., asymmetry of tree extension, scrub stature, or tree shape). The lack of phenotypic plasticity is a general limitation of plant models (Grimm and Railsback, 2005).

Since all three models describe landscape vegetation patterns, they are suitable to test the synchronization and desynchronization effect of canopy disturbances on mosaic cycles of successional forest stages on a landscape level (task 7). This is, however, an open challenge and still on the list of potential applications of the FORMAN, KIWI, and MANGRO models.

We further suggest to replicate field and mesocosm experiments across latitudinal gradients (see, e.g., Cardona-Olarte et al., 2006), or within a wider geographic range, to determine the relative importance of interacting factors such as climatic settings or specific adaptations of spatially distant populations, on forest dynamics. In this context it is necessary to stress that parameterization of the current mangrove IBMs is based on data collected within a very narrow geographical range. Stem growth data as well as information about tree age and mortality from different regions of the world are essential to test the general applicability of current simulation experiment results (see, e.g., Menezes et al., 2003; Verheyden et al., 2005). Model applications to mangrove forests in Africa, Asia, or Australia could support research related to coastal protection and sustainable use of coastal wetlands worldwide, but will depend on the acceptance of such models as research tools for developing management recommendations.

The mangrove models discussed in this paper have contributed to the understanding of critical processes in mangrove wetlands by identifying relationships and mechanisms that need further study; particularly those regulating recruitment, productivity and forest structure. Being complex hypothesis formulations, our models are part of the scientific method, and serve as "blue prints" to define research priorities (Wullschleger et al., 2001). This paper uniquely summarizes the advances and applications of existing forest simulation models that have been independently designed to understand mangrove forest dynamics and management. Hopefully, this review will spur additional field and modeling research that will enhance and expand model functionality and utility for a better understanding of one of the most productive ecosystems in the world.

Acknowledgements

Special thanks to Dr. Jan Vermaat for his insightful comments that helped us to improve the quality and readability of the final version. Funding by the Jet Propulsion Laboratory-NASA (Land Cover Land Use Change program) and the NSF-FCE-LTER program (DEB-9901514) to VHRM and RRT and the Science Foundation in Flanders (FWO-Vlaanderen) contributed to the preparation of this manuscript. The Center of Tropical marine Ecology in Bremen funded UB, CP and MLFH during the preparation of this paper.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.aquabot. 2007.12.015.

References

- Alongi, D.M., 2002. Present state and future of the world's mangrove forests. Environ. Conserv. 29, 331–349.
- Baldwin, A.H., Egnotovich, M.A.F., Platt, W.J., 2001. Regeneration in fringe mangrove forests damaged by Hurricane Andrew. Plant Ecol. 157, 151–164.
- Ball, M.C., 1980. Patterns of secondary succession in a mangrove forest of southern Florida. Oecologia 44, 226–235.
- Ball, M.C., 1996. Comparative ecophysiology of mangrove forest and tropical lowland moist rainforest. In: Tropical Forest Plant Ecophysiology, Chapman & Hall, New York, pp. 461–496.
- Ball, M.C., 1998. Mangrove species richness in relation to salinity and waterlogging: a case study along the Adelaide River floodplain, northern Australia. Global Ecol. Biogeogr. Lett. 7, 73–82.
- Ball, M.C., 2002. Interactive effects of salinity and irradiance on growth: implications for mangrove forest structure along salinity gradients. Trends Ecol. Evol. 16, 126–139.
- Balmford, A., Bruner, A., Cooper, P., Costanza, R., Farber, S., Green, R.E., Jenkins, M., Jefferiss, P., Jessamy, V., Madden, J., Munro, K., Myers, N., Naeem, S., Paavola, J., Rayment, M., Rosendo, S., Roughgarden, J., Trumper, K., Turner, R.K., 2002. Economic reasons for conserving wild nature. Science 297, 950–953.
- Bauer, S., Wyszomirski, T., Berger, U., Hildenbrandt, H., Grimm, V., 2004. Asymmetric competition as natural outcome of neighbour interactions among plants: results from the field-of-neighbourhood modelling approach. Plant Ecol. 170, 135–145.
- Berger, U., Hildenbrandt, H., 2000. A new approach to spatially explicit modelling of forest dynamics: spacing, ageing and neighbourhood competition of mangrove trees. Ecol. Model. 132, 287–302.
- Berger, U., Hildenbrandt, H., Grimm, V., 2002. Towards a standard for the individual-based modeling of plant populations: self-thinning and the fieldof-neighborhood approach. Nat. Resour. Model. 15, 39–54.
- Berger, U., Hildenbrandt, H., 2003. The strength of competition among individual trees and the biomass-density trajectories of the cohort. Plant Ecol. 167, 89–96.

- Berger, U., Hildenbrandt, H., Grimm, V., 2004. Age-related decline in forest production: modelling the effects of growth limitation, neighbourhood competition and self-thinning. J. Ecol. 92, 846–853.
- Berger, U., Adams, M., Grimm, V., Hildenbrandt, H., 2006. Modeling secondary succession of neotropical mangroves: causes and consequences of growth reduction in pioneer species. Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 7, 243–252.
- Bosire, J.O., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Walton, M., Crona, B.I., Lewis III, R.R., Field, C., Kairo, J.G., Koedam, N., 2008. Functionality of restored mangroves: A review. Aquat. Bot. 89, 251–259.
- Botkin, D.B., 1993a. Forest Dynamics. Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York.
- Botkin, D.B., 1993b. Forest Dynamics—An Ecological Model. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Botkin, D.B., Janak, J.F., Wallis, J.R., 1972. Some ecological consequences of a computer model of forest growth. J. Ecol. 60, 849–872.
- Brokaw, N., Busing, R.T., 2000. Niche versus chance and tree diversity in forest gaps. Trends Ecol. Evol. 15, 183–188.
- Burns, B.R., Ogden, J., 1985. The demographic of the temperate mangrove (Avicennia marina (Forsk. Vierh.) at its southern limit in New Zealand. Aust. J. Ecol. 10, 125–133.
- Busing, R.T., Mailly, D., 2004. Advances in spatial, individual-based modelling of forest dynamics. J. Veg. Sci. 15, 831–842.
- Calzadilla Pérez, A., Damen, M.C.J., Geneletti, D., Hobma, T.W., 2002. Monitoring a recent delta formation in a tropical coastal wetland using remote sensing and GIS. Case study: Laguna de Tacarigua, Venezuela. Environ. Dev. Sustain. 4, 201–219.
- Cannicci, S., Burrows, D., Fratini, S., Smith III, T.J., Offenberg, J., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., 2008. Faunistic impact on vegetation structure and ecosystem function in mangrove forests: A review. Aquat. Bot. 89, 186–200.
- Cardona-Olarte, P., Twilley, R.R., Krauss, K.W., Rivera-Monroy, V., 2006. Responses of neotropical mangrove seedlings grown in monoculture and mixed culture under treatments of hydroperiod and salinity. Hydrobiologia 569, 325–341.
- Castaneda-Moya, E., Rivera-Monroy, V.H., Twilley, R.R., 2006. Mangrove zonation in the dry life zone of the Gulf of Fonseca, Honduras. Estuar. Coasts 29, 751–764.
- Chen, R., Twilley, R.R., 1998. A gap dynamic model of mangrove forest development along gradients of soil salinity and nutrient resources. J. Ecol. 86, 37–51.
- Chen, R., Twilley, R.R., 1999. Patterns of mangrove forest structure and soil nutrient dynamics along the Shark River estuary, Florida. Estuaries 22, 955– 970.
- Cintrón, G., 1990. Restoration of Mangrove Systems. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Washington, DC.
- Cintrón, G., Lugo, A.E., Pool, D.J., Morris, G., 1978. Mangrove in arid environments in Puerto Rico and adjacent Islands. Biotropica 10, 110–121.
- Clarke, P.J., 1995. The population dynamics of the mangrove Avicennia marina; demographic synthesis and predictive modelling. Hydrobiologia 295, 83–88.
- Clarke, P.J., 2004. Effects of experimental canopy gaps on mangrove recruitment: lack of habitat partitioning may explain stand dominance. J. Ecol. 92, 2003–2213.
- Cohen, M.C.L., Lara, R.J., 2003. Temporal changes of mangrove vegetation boundaries in Amazonia: application of GIS and remote sensing techniques. Wetlands Ecol. Manage. 11, 223–231.
- Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Mathenge, C., Kairo, J.G., Koedam, N., 2000a. Utilization of mangrove wood products around Mida Creek (Kenya) amongst subsistence and commercial users. Econ. Bot. 54, 513–527.
- Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Verheyden, A., De Genst, W., Hettiarachchi, S., Koedam, N., 2000b. Four decade vegetation dynamics in Sri Lankan mangroves as detected from sequential aerial photography: a case study in Galle. Bull. Mar. Sci. 67, 741–759.
- Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Koedam, N., 2002. A synthesis of existent and potential mangrove vegetation structure dynamics from Kenyan, Sri Lankan and Mairitanian case-studies. Le Bulletin des Séances de l'Académy Royale des Sciences d'Outre-Mer 48, 487–511.
- Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Van Pottelbergh, I., Kairo, J.G., Cannicci, S., Koedam, N., 2004. Human-impacted mangroves in Gazi (Kenya): predicting future

vegetation based on retrospective remote sensing, social surveys, and distribution of trees. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 272, 77–92.

- Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Hettiarachchi, S., Lo Seen, D., Batelaan, O., Sooriyarachchi, S., Jayatissa, L.P., Koedam, N., 2005a. Transitions in ancient inland freshwater resource management in Sri Lanka affect biota and human populations in and around coastal lagoons. Curr. Biol. 15, 579–586.
- Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Van Hiel, E., Chan, J.C., Jayatissa, L.P., Koedam, N., 2005b. Qualitative distinction of congeneric and introgressive mangrove species in mixed patchy forest assemblages using high spatial resolution remotely sensed imagery (IKONOS). Syst. Biodivers. 2, 113–119.
- Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Koedam, N., 2008. Long-term retrospection on mangrove development using transdisciplinary approaches: A review. Aquat. Bot. 89, 80–92.
- Davis, S.M., Childers, D.L., Lorenz, J.J., Wanless, H.R., Hopkins, T.E., 2005. A conceptual model of ecological interactions in the mangrove estuaries of the Florida Everglades. Wetlands 25, 832–842.
- DeAngelis, D.L., Gross, L.J., 1992. Individual-based Models and Approaches in Ecology. Chapman and Hall, New York.
- DeAngelis, D.L., Mooij, W.M., 2005. Individual-based modeling of ecological and evolutionary processes. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 36, 147–168.
- Denslow, J.S., Ellison, A.M., Sanford, R.E., 1998. Treefall gap size effects on above- and below-ground processes in a tropical wet forest. J. Ecol. 86, 597– 609.
- Doyle, T.W., 1981. The role of disturbance in the gap dynamics of montane rain forest: an application of a tropical forest succession model. In: West, D.C., Shugart, H.H., Botkin, D.B. (Eds.), Forest Succession: Concepts and Application. Springer, New York, Heidelberg, Berlin, pp. 56–73.
- Doyle, T.W., 1998. Chapter 6: modeling global change effects on coastal forests. In: Guntenspergen, G.R., Vairin, B.A. (Eds.), Vulnerability of coastal wetlands in the Southeastern United States: climate change research results, 1992–1997, BSR 1998-0002. Lafayette, USGS/BRD. Biological Science Report, pp. 67–79.
- Doyle, T.W., Girod, G.F., 1997. The frequency and intensity of Atlantic hurricanes and their influence on the structure of south Florida mangrove communities. In: Diaz, H.F., Pulwarty, R.S. (Eds.), Hurricane, Climate and Socioeconomic Impact. Springer Verlag, New York, NY, USA, pp. 55–65.
- Doyle, T.W., Smith, T.J., Robblee, M.B., 1995. Wind damage effects of Hurricane Andrew on mangrove communities along the southwest coast of Florida, USA. J. Coast. Res. 21, 159–168.
- Doyle, T.W., Girod, G.F., Books, M.A., 2003. Chapter 12: modeling mangrove forest migration along the southwest coast of Florida under climate change. In: Ning, Z.H., Turner, R.E., Doyle, T.W., Abdollahi, K. (Eds.), Integrated Assessment of the Climate Change Impacts on the Gulf Coast Region. GRCCC and LSU Graphic Services, Baton Rouge, LA, pp. 211–221.
- Duke, N.C., 2001. Gap creation and regenerative processes driving diversity and structure of mangrove ecosystems. Wetlands Ecol. Manage. 9, 257–269.
- Duke, N.C., Ball, M.C., Ellison, J.C., 1998. Factors influencing biodiversity and distributional gradients in mangroves. Global Ecol. Biogeogr. Lett. 7, 27–47.
- Duke, N.C., Bell, A.M., Pederson, D.K., Roelfsema, C.M., Nash, S.B., 2005. Herbicides implicated as the cause of severe mangrove dieback in the Mackay region, NE Australia: consequences for marine plant habitats of the GBR World Heritage Area. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 51, 308–324.
- Dunning, J.B., Stewart, D.J., Danielson, B.J., Nonn, B.R., Root, T.L., Lamberson, R.H., Stevens, E.E., 1995. Spatially explicit population models: current forms and future uses. Ecol. Appl. 5, 3–11.
- Ellison, A.M., 2002. Macroecology of mangroves: large-scale patterns and process in tropical coastal forests. Trends Ecol. Evol. 16, 181–194.
- Ellison, A.M., Mukherjee, B.B., Karim, A., 2000. Testing patterns of zonation in mangroves: scale dependence and environmental correlates in the Sundarbans of Bangladesh. J. Ecol. 88, 813–824.
- Feller, I.C., McKee, K.L., 1999. Light-gap creation in a Belizean red-mangrove forest by a wood-boring insect. Biotropica 31, 607–617.
- Feller, I.C., McKee, K.L., Whigham, D.F., Neill, J.P., 2003a. Nitrogen vs. phosphorus limitation across an ecotonal gradient in a mangrove forest. Biogeochemistry 62, 145–175.
- Feller, I.C., Whigham, D.F., McKee, K.L., Lovelock, C.E., 2003b. Nitrogen limitation of growth and nutrient dynamics in a disturbed mangrove forest, Indian River Lagoon, Florida. Oecologia 134, 405–414.

- Felton, A., Felton, A.M., Wood, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2006. Vegetation structure, phenology, and regeneration in the natural and anthropogenic tree-fall gaps of a reduced-impact logged subtropical Bolivian forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 235, 186–193.
- Field, C.D., 1998. Rehabilitation of mangrove ecosystems: an overview. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 37, 383–392.
- Field, C.D., 1999. Mangrove rehabilitation: choice and necessity. Hydrobiologia 413, 47–52.
- Fromard, F., Puig, H., Mougin, E., Marty, G., Bétoulle, J.L., Cadamuro, L., 1998. Structure, above-ground biomass and dynamics of mangrove ecosystems: new data from French Guiana. Oecologia 115, 39–53.
- Fromard, F., Vega, C., Proisy, C., 2004. Half a century of dynamic coastal change affecting mangrove shorelines of French Guiana. A case study based on remote sensing data analyses and field surveys. Mar. Geol. 208, 265–280.
- Glaser, M., 2003. Interrelations between mangrove ecosystem, local economy and social sustainability in Caeté Estuary, North Brazil. Wetlands Ecol. Manage. 11, 265–272.
- Gosz, J.R., 1992. Gradient analysis of ecological change in time and space: implications for forest management. Ecol. Appl. 2, 248–261.
- Grimm, V., 1999. Ten years of individual-based modelling in ecology: what have we learned and what could we learn in the future? Ecol. Model. 115, 129–148.
- Grimm, V., Railsback, S.F., 2005. Individual-based Modelling and Ecology. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NY.
- Grimm, V., Revilla, E., Berger, U., Jeltsch, F., Mooij, W.M., Railsback, S.F., Thulke, H.-H., Weiner, J., Wiegand, T., DeAngelis, D., 2005. Patternoriented modeling of agent-based complex systems: lessons from ecology. Science 310, 987–991.
- Grimm, V., Berger, U., Bastiansen, F., Eliassen, S., Ginot, V., Giske, J., Goss-Custard, J., Grand, T.K., Heinz, S., Huse, G., Huth, A., Jepsen, J.U., Jørgensen, C., Mooij, W.M., Müller, B., Peer, G., Piou, C., Railsback, S.F., Robbins, A.M., Robbins, M.M., Rossmanith, E., Ruger, N., Strand, E., Souissi, S., Stillman, R.A., Vabøg, R., Visser, U., DeAngelis, D.L., 2006. A standard protocol for describing individual-based and agent-based models. Ecol. Model. 198, 115–126.
- Hernández-Cornejo, R., Koedam, N., Ruiz Luna, A., Troell, M., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., 2005. Remote sensing and ethnobotanical assessment of the mangrove forest changes in the Navachiste-San Ignacio-Macapule lagoon complex, Sinaloa, Mexico. Ecol. Soc. 10, 16.
- Hölker, F., Breckling, B., 2002. Concepts of scales, hierarchies and emergent properties in ecological models. In: Hölker, F. (Ed.), Scales, Hierarchies and Emergent Properties in Ecological Models. Peter Lang, Frankfurt, pp. 7–27.
- Huston, M., DeAngelis, D., Post, W., 1988. New computer models unify ecological theory. BioScience 38, 682–691.
- Huston, M.A., 1994. Biological Diversity. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Kairo, J.G., Dahdouh Guebas, F., Gwada, P.O., Ochieng, C., Koedam, N., 2002. Regeneration status of mangrove forests in Mida Creek, Kenya: a compromised or secured future? Ambio 31, 562–568.
- Keane, R.E., Austin, M., Dahlmann, R., Field, C., Huth, A., Lexer, M.J., Peters, D., Solomon, A., Wyckoff, P., 2001. Plant mortality in gap models. Climatic Change 51, 509–540.
- Khurana, E., Singh, J.S., 2006. Impact of life-history traits on response of seedlings of five tree species of tropical dry forest to shade. J. Trop. Ecol. 22, 653–661.
- Komiyama, A., Ogino, K., Aksornkoae, S., Sabhasri, S., 1987. Root biomass of a mangrove forest in southern Thailand. 1. Estimation by the trench method and the zonal structure of root biomass. J. Trop. Ecol. 3, 97–108.
- Komiyama, A., Ong, J.E., Poungparn, S., 2008. Allometry, biomass, and productivity of mangrove forests: A review. Aquat. Bot. 89, 128–137.
- Kovacs, J.M., Wang, J., Blanco-Correa, M., 2001. Mapping disturbances in a mangrove forest using multi-date Landsat TM imagery. Environ. Manage. 27, 763–776.
- Krauss, K.W., Doyle, T.W., Twilley, R.R., Smith, T.J., Whelan, K.R.T., Sullivan, J.K., 2005. Woody debris in the mangrove forests of south Florida. Biotropica 37, 9–15.
- Krauss, K.W., Lovelock, C.E., McKee, K.L., López-Hoffman, L., Ewe, S.M.L., Sousa, W.P., 2008. Environmental drivers in mangrove establishment and early development: A review. Aquat. Bot. 89, 105–127.

- Kristensen, E., Bouillon, S., Dittmar, T., Marchand, C., 2008. Organic carbon dynamics in mangrove ecosystems: A review. Aquat. Bot. 89, 201–219.
- Lewis III, R.R., 1982. Mangrove forests. In: Lewis, III, R.R. (Ed.), Creation and Restoration of Coastal Plant Communities. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, pp. 154–171.
- Liu, J., Ashton, P.S., 1995. Individual-based simulation models for forest succession and management. For. Ecol. Manage. 73, 157–175.
- Lopez-Hoffman, L., Anten, N.P.R., Martinez-Ramos, M., Ackerly, D.D., 2007. Salinity and light interactively affect neotropical mangrove seedlings at the leaf and whole plant levels. Oecologia 150, 545–556.
- Lovelock, C.E., Feller, I.C., 2003. Photosynthetic performance and resource utilization of two mangrove species coexisting in a hypersaline scrub forest. Oecologia 134, 455–462.
- Lucas, R.M., Ellison, J.C., Mitchel, A., Donnelly, B., Finlayson, M., Milne, A.K., 2002. Use of stereo aerial photography for quantifying changes in the extent and height of mangroves in tropical Australia. Wetlands Ecol. Manage. 10, 159–173.
- Lugo, A.E., 1980. Mangrove ecosystems: successional or steady state? Trop. Succession 12, 65–72.
- Lugo, A.E., 1997. Old-growth mangrove forests in the United States. Conserv. Biol. 11, 1–20.
- Lugo, A.E., 2000. Effects and outcomes of Caribbean hurricanes in a climate change scenario. Sci. Total Environ. 262, 243–251.
- Lugo, A.E., Snedaker, S.C., 1974. The ecology of mangroves. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 5, 39–64.
- Lugo, A.E., Sell, M., Snedaker, S.C., 1976. Mangrove ecosystem analysis. In: Pattern, B.C. (Ed.), System Analysis and Simulation in Ecology. Academic Press, Inc., New York, pp. 113–145.
- Macintosh, D.J., Ashton, E.C., Havanon, S., 2002. Mangrove rehabilitation and intertidal biodiversity: a study in the Ranong mangrove ecosystem, Thailand. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 3, 331–345.
- Matthijs, S., Tack, J., Van Speybroeck, D., Koedam, N., 1999. Mangrove species zonation and soil redox state, sulfide concentration and salinity in Gazi Bay (Kenya), a preliminary study. Mangroves Salt Marshes 3, 243–249.
- McKee, K.L., 1993. Soil physicochemical patterns and mangrove species distribution—reciprocal effects? J. Ecol. 81, 477–487.
- McKee, K.L., Mendelssohn, I.A., Hester, M.W., 1988. Reexamination of pore water sulfide concentrations and redox potentials near the aerial roots of *Rhizophora mangle* and *Avicennia germinans*. Am. J. Bot. 5, 1352–1359.
- Menezes, M., Berger, U., Worbes, M., 2003. Annual growth rings and long-term growth patterns of mangrove trees from the Bragança peninsula, North Brazil. Wetlands Ecol. Manage. 11, 233–242.
- Monserud, R.A., Sterba, H., 1999. Modeling individual tree mortality for Austrian tree species. For. Ecol. Manage. 113, 109–123.
- Moorcroft, P.R., Hurtt, G.C., Pacala, S.W., 2001. A method for scaling vegetation dynamics: the ecosystem demography model. Ecol. Monogr. 71, 557–585.
- Mueller-Dombois, D., 1991. The mosaic theory and the spatial dynamics of natural dieback and regeneration in Pacific forests. In: Remmert, H. (Ed.), The Mosaic-cycle Concept of Ecosystems. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, pp. 46–60.
- Pacala, S., Canham, C.D., Silander, J., 1993. Forest models defined by field measurements. I. The design of a northeastern forest simulator. Can. J. For. Res. 23, 1980–1988.
- Perry, G.L.W., Enright, N.J., 2006. Spatial modelling of vegetation change in dynamic landscapes: a review of methods and applications. Prog. Phys. Geogr. 30, 47–72.
- Pickett, S.T.A., Kolasa, J., Armesto, J.J., Collins, S.L., 1989. The ecological concept of disturbance and its expression at various hierarchical levels. Oikos 54, 129–136.
- Pickett, S.T.A., White, P.S., 1985. The Ecology of Natural Disturbance and Patch Dynamics. Academic Press, New York.
- Piou, C., Feller, I.C., Berger, U., Chi, F., 2006. Zonation patterns of Belizean offshore mangrove forests 41 years after a catastrophic hurricane. Biotropica 38, 365–374.
- Piou, C., Berger, U., Hildenbrandt, H., Feller, C.I., in press. Modeling the effect of hurricane disturbances on mangrove forest diversity. J. Veg. Sci.

- Piou, C., Berger, U., Hildenbrandt, H., Grimm, V., Diele, K., D'Lima, C., 2007. Simulating cryptic movements of a mangrove crab: recovery phenomena after small scale fishery. Ecol. Model. 205, 110–122.
- Piou, C., 2007. Patterns and individual-based modeling of spatial competition within two main components of Neotropical mangrove ecosystems. Ph.D. Thesis. University of Bremen, Germany, p. 246.
- Ramachandran, S., Anitha, S., Balamurugan, V., Dharanirajan, K., Vendhan, K.E., Divien, M.I.P., Vel, A.S., Hussain, I.S., Udayaraj, A., 2005. Ecological impact of tsunami on Nicobar Islands (Camorta, Katchal, Nancowry and Trinkat). Curr. Sci. 89, 195–200.
- Ray, S., Ulanowicz, R.E., Majee, N.C., Roy, A.B., 2000. Network analysis of a benthic food web model of a partly reclaimed island in the Sundarban mangrove ecosystem in India. J. Biol. Syst. 8, 263–278.
- Remmert, H., 1991. The mosaic-cycle concept of ecosystems: an overview. Ecol. Stud. 85, 1–21 Springer.
- Reynolds, J.H., Ford, E.D., 2005. Improving competition representation in theoretical models of self-thinning: a critical review. J. Ecol. 93, 362– 372.
- Rivera-Monroy, V.H., Twilley, R.R., Boustany, R.G., Day Jr., J.W., Vera-Herrera, F., Ramirez, M.D.C., 1995. Direct denitrification in mangrove sediments in Terminos Lagoon, Mexico. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 126, 97–109.
- Rivera-Monroy, V.H., Twilley, R.R., 1996. The relative role of denitrification and immobilization in the fate of inorganic nitrogen in mangrove sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 41, 284–296.
- Rivera-Monroy, V.H., Twilley, R.R., Medina, E., Moser, E.B., Botero, L., Francisco, A.M., Bullard, E., 2004. Spatial variability of soil nutrients in disturbed riverine mangrove forests at different stages of regeneration in the San Juan River estuary, Venezuela. Estuaries 27, 44–57.
- Ross, M.S., Ruiz, P.L., Sah, J.P., Reed, D.L., Walters, J., Meeder, J.F., 2006. Early post-hurricane stand development in Fringe mangrove forests of contrasting productivity. Plant Ecol. 185, 283–297.
- Roth, L.C., 1992. Hurricanes and mangrove regeneration: effects of Hurricane Joan, October 1988, on the vegetation of Isla del Venado, Bluefields, Nicaragua. Biotropica 24, 375–384.
- Scholander, P.F., Hammel, H.T., Hemmingson, E., Garey, W., 1962. Salt balance in mangroves. Plant Physiol. 37, 722–729.
- Sherman, R.E., Fahey, T.J., Battles, J.J., 2000. Small-scale disturbance and regeneration dynamics in a neotropical mangrove forest. J. Ecol. 88, 165– 178.
- Sherman, R.E., Fahey, T.J., 2001. Hurricane impacts on a mangrove forest in the Dominican Republic: damage patterns and early recovery. Biotropica 33, 393–408.
- Shugart, H.H., 1984. A Theory of Forest Dynamics: The Ecological Implications of Forest Succession Models. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Simard, M., Zhang, K., Rivera-Monroy, V.H., Ross, M.S., Ruiz, P.L., Castaneda-Moya, E., Twilley, R.R., Rodriguez, E., 2006. Mapping height and biomass of mangrove forests in Everglades National Park with SRTM elevation data. Photogramm. Eng. Rem. Sens. 72, 299–311.
- Smith III, T.J., 1992. Forest structure. In: Robertson, A.J., Alongi, D.M. (Eds.), Tropical Mangrove Ecosystems. American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC, pp. 101–136.
- Smith III, T.J., Robblee, M.B., Wanless, H.R., Doyle, T.W., 1994. Mangroves, hurricanes, and lightning strikes. BioScience 44, 256–262.
- Thampanya, U., Vermaat, J.E., Duarte, C.M., 2002. Colonization success of common Thai mangrove species as a function of shelter from water movement. Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser. 237, 111–120.
- Thampanya, U., 2006. Mangroves and sediment dynamics along the coasts of southern Thailand. Dissertation. Wageningen University.
- Thom, B.G., 1967. Mangrove ecology and deltaic geomorphology: Tabasco, Mexico. J. Ecol. 55, 301–343.
- Thom, B.G., 1984. Coastal landforms and geomorphic processes. In: Snedaker, S.C., Snedaker, J.G. (Eds.), The Mangrove Ecosystem: Research Methods. UNESCO, Paris, France, pp. 3–17.
- Tilman, D., 1988. Dynamics and Structure of Plant Communities. Princeton University Press.
- Twilley, R.R., 1995. Properties of Mangrove Ecosystems Related to the Energy Signature of Coastal Environments. University Press of Colorado Maximum Power, pp. 43–62.

- Twilley, R.R., 1997. Mangrove wetlands. In: Messina, M., Connor, W. (Eds.), Southern Forested Wetlands: Ecology and Management. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, pp. 445–473.
- Twilley, R.R., Chen, R.H., Hargis, T., 1992. Carbon sinks in mangroves and their implications to carbon budget of tropical coastal ecosystems. Water Air Soil Pollut. 64, 265–288.
- Twilley, R.R., Chen, R., Rivera-Monroy, V.H., 1999a. Formulating a model of mangrove succession in the Caribbean and Gulf of Mexico with emphasis on factors associated with global climate change. Curr. Top. Wetland Biogeochem. 3, 118–141.
- Twilley, R.R., Rivera-Monroy, V.H., Chen, R., Botero, L., 1999b. Adapting an ecological mangrove model to simulate trajectories in restoration ecology. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 37, 404–419.
- Twilley, R.R., Rivera-Monroy, V.H., 2005. Developing performance measures of mangrove wetlands using simulation models of hydrology, nutrient biogeochemistry, and community dynamics. J. Coast. Res. 40, 79–93.
- Urban, D.L., O'Neill, R.V., Shugart, H.H., 1987. Landscape ecology: a hierarchical perspective can help scientists understand spatial patterns. BioScience 37, 119–127.
- Vega-Cendejas, M.-E., Arreguin-Sanchez, F., 2001. Energy fluxes in a mangrove ecosystem from coastal lagoon in Yucatan peninsula, Mexico. Ecol. Model. 20, 119–133.
- Verheyden, A., De Ridder, F., Schmitz, N., Beeckman, H., Koedam, N., 2005. High-resolution time series of vessel density in Kenyan mangrove trees reveal a link with climate. New Phytol. 167, 425–435.
- Walters, B.B., 2005. Patterns of local wood use and cutting of Philippine mangrove forests. Econ. Bot. 59, 66–76.

- Walters, B.B., Rönnbäck, P., Kovacs, J.M., Crona, B., Hussain, S.A., Badola, R., Primavera, J.H., Barbier, E., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., 2008. Ethnobiology, socio-economics and management of mangrove forests: A review. Aquat. Bot. 89, 220–236.
- Wang, L., Sousa, W.P., Gong, P., Biging, G.S., 2004. Comparison of IKONOS and QuickBird images for mapping mangrove species on the Caribbean coast of Panama. Rem. Sens. Environ. 91, 432–440.
- Ward, G.A., Smith, T.J., Whelan, K.R.T., Doyle, T.W., 2006. Regional processes in mangrove ecosystems: spatial scaling relationships, biomass, and turnover rates following catastrophic disturbance. Hydrobiologia 569, 517–527.
- Whelan, K.R.T., 2005. The successional dynamics of lightning-initiated canopy gaps in the mangrove forests of Shark River, Everglades National Park, USA. Ph.D. Thesis. Florida International University.
- Wolanski, E., 1992. Hydrodynamics of mangrove swamps and their coastal waters. Hydrobiologia 247, 141–161.
- Wolff, M., 2006. Biomass flow structure and resource potential of two mangrove estuaries: insights from comparative modeling in Costa Rica and Brazil. Revista de Biologia Tropical 54, 69–86.
- Woodroffe, C., 1992. Mangrove sediments and geomorphology. In: Robertson, A.I., Alongi, D.M. (Eds.), Tropical Mangrove Ecosystems. American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC, pp. 7–42.
- Wullschleger, S.D., Jackson, R.B., Currie, W.S., Friend, A.D., Luo, Y., Mouillot, F., Pan, Y., Shao, G.F., 2001. Below-ground processes in gap models for simulating forest response to global change. Climatic Change 51, 449–473.